FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
5/27/2021 3:39 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/28/2021 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. <u>99829-9</u> Court of Appeals Cause No. 80211-9-I

11

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

TIMOTHY LUNDQUIST, and a certified class of similarly situated individuals,

Plaintiffs/Petitioners,

v.

SEATTLE SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 1,

Defendant/Respondent.

PLAINTIFFS' PETITION FOR REVIEW

David F. Stobaugh, WSBA #6376
Stephen K. Strong, WSBA #6299
Alexander F. Strong, WSBA #49839
BENDICH, STOBAUGH & STRONG, P.C.
126 NW Canal Street, Suite 100
Seattle, WA 98107
(206) 622-3536
davidfstobaugh@bs-s.com
skstrong@bs-s.com
astrong@bs-s.com

IV.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE		
V.	ARGUMENT		
	A.	Standard for Accepting Review	
	В.	The Court of Appeals Erred on an Issue of Public Importance by Ruling Long-Term Disability Benefits Are Not Compensation, Contrary to This Court's Decisions	
	C.	The Court of Appeals Erred on an Issue of Public Importance by Ruling That Permanently Disabled Former Employees Are Bargaining Unit Members Subject to CBA Remedies	
VI.	CONCLUSION		

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

<u>Page</u> Washington Cases
Anderson v. Akzo Nobel Coatings, Inc., 172 Wn.2d 593, 597 260 P.3d 857 (2011)
Bates v. City of Richland, 112 Wn. App. 919, 51 P.3d 816 (2002)
Burnett v. Pagliacci Pizza, Inc., 196 Wn.2d 38, 470 P.3d 486 (2020)20
Cockle v. DLI, 142 Wn.2d 801, 16 P.3d 583 (2001)3, 8
Ervin v. Columbia Distrib., Inc., 84 Wn. App. 882, 930 P.2d 947 (1997)
Jacoby v. Grays Harbor Chair & Mfg. Co., 77 Wn.2d 911, 468 P.2d 666 (1970) passim
Jeoung Lee v. Evergreen Hosp. Med. Ctr., 195 Wn.2d 699, 464 P.2d 209 (2020)20
McAfee v. Select Portfolio Servicing, Inc., 193 Wn. App. 220, 370 P.3d 25 (2016)11
McCleary v. State, 173 Wn.2d 477, 269 P.3d 227 (2012)
Merino v. State, 179 Wn. App. 889, 220 P.3d 153 (2014)
Navlet v. Port of Seattle, 164 Wn.2d 818, 194 P.3d 221 (2008)
Schilling v. Radio Holdings, Inc., 136 Wn.2d 152, 961 P.2d 371 (1998)
Smoke v. City of Seattle, 132 Wn.2d 214, 937 P.2d 186 (1997)
Federal Cases
Adams v. Reliance Stand. Life Ins. Co., 225 F.3d 1179 (10th Cir. 2000)

Allied Chem. & Alkali Workers of Am., Loc. Union No. 1 v. Pittsburgh Plate
Glass Co., Chem. Div., 404 U.S. 157 (1971)14, 15, 16
<i>Anderson v. Alpha Industries</i> , 752 F.2d 1293 (8th Cir. 1985)
Local 134 UAW v. Yard-Man, 716 F.2d 1476 (6th Cir. 1983)
<i>Meza v. General Battery Corp.</i> , 908 F.2d 1262 (5th Cir. 1990)
Rosetto v. Pabst Brewing Co., Inc., 128 F.3d 538 (7th Cir. 1997)15
Standard Insurance v. Seattle School Dist., 2020 WL 8513589 (W.D. Wash. 2020)
Vizcaino v. Microsoft Corp., 120 F.3d 1006 (9th Cir. 1997)
Non-Washington Cases
<i>Garcia v. City of Hartford</i> , 972 A.2d 706, 292 Conn. 334 (2009)15
Administrative Decisions
Aldridge v. Washington State Troopers Association, 2019 WL 1549471 (Wash. Pub. Emp. Rel. Com.)
Aldridge v. Washington State Troopers Association, 2019 WL 3781675 (Wash. Pub. Emp. Rel. Com.)
Statutes
RCW 28A.400.2756
RCW 28A.400.350
RCW 41.05.740
RCW 41.59.020
RCW 41.59.110
RCW 48.21.010
RCW 48.21.0752

I. <u>IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS</u>

The petitioner is Timothy Lundquist, a permanently disabled former school teacher, who represents a class of disabled school employees who did not receive long-term disability benefits equal to 60% of pre-disability earnings, as the District's disability benefit plan provides. The District reduced the benefits well below 60% by failing to include and report regular earnings in the form of locally funded (TRI) pay, deferred compensation, and employer-paid health insurance premiums.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals ruled on March 1, 2021 that the plaintiff class cannot sue the District for long-term disability benefits offered as employee benefits and a part of their deferred compensation. A motion to reconsider was denied on April 27, 2021. Copies are attached.

III. <u>ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW</u>

- 1. Should this Court review Court of Appeals' unique decision, contrary to decisions of this Court, that long-term disability benefits are not "deferred compensation" and that the employer district is not liable to provide the benefits it expressly promised, where the district intentionally contributed to the reducing of benefits by failing to include and report all of employees' pre-disability earnings for the 60% calculation?
- 2. Should this Court review the Court of Appeals' decision that permanently disabled former employees who have no expectation of future

employment are members of an employee bargaining unit and thus can only use nonexistent CBA remedies to seek disability benefits (a) where permanently disabled individuals are not "employees" for purposes of collective bargaining representation, (b) where a permanently disabled individual has no community of interest with current employees, and (c) where the CBA does not mention or pertain at all to those disability benefits?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

School districts are authorized by statute to provide long-term disability benefits and other insured benefits to their employees. RCW 28A.400.350. They may provide the benefits "by contracts or agreements with private carriers, with the state health care authority, or through self-insurance or self-funding... or in any other manner authorized by law." *Id.* The District long ago chose to offer disability benefits to their employees by contracting with Standard Insurance (starting in 1983). CP 636. As the District noted, the policy is a "group disability insurance" policy which is "issued to an employer [covering its] employees..." CP 809, quoting RCW 48.21.010(1). The statutes refer to disability insurance as an "employee benefit" and "compensation." RCW 48.21.075 (referring to "compensation [that] includes group disability" insurance); RCW 41.05.740 (disability insurance is part of "school employees" benefits").

Timothy Lundquist was employed by the Seattle School District as a

teacher at Salmon Bay School from 1999 to 2017. CP 132-33. Mr. Lundquist has Parkinson's disease and became totally and permanently disabled and unable to teach. CP 133, 782-83, 1127. Mr. Lundquist receives disability pay and will continue to receive disability pay until he is 66 years old. CP 50. Disability pay is 60% of an employee's pre-disability earnings to provide for the essential needs of a disabled worker, but Mr. Lundquist's benefits are substantially less than 60%.

The District excluded much of Mr. Lundquist's (and everyone else's) pre-disability earnings in its monthly payroll reports to Standard Insurance. First, Mr. Lundquist received TRI pay, which is regular salary funded by local levies, CP 132-33, because the State did not adequately fund regular pay, as the school districts established in *McCleary v. State*, 173 Wn.2d 477, 536-37, 269 P.3d 227 (2012). Nevertheless, the District did not report TRI pay as part of the annual earnings on which his 60% disability pay is based. Moreover, the District did not include the employer cost of health insurance or deferred compensation, both of which are a routine part of annual earnings under the terms of the disability plan.¹ CP 133.

¹ Adams v. Reliance Stand. Life Ins. Co., 225 F.3d 1179, 1185-86 (10th Cir. 2000) (employer cost of health insurance is considered a part of a teacher's earnings for purposes of disability pay calculation); Cockle v. DLI, 142 Wn.2d 801, 818-21, 823, 16 P.3d 583 (2001) (employer cost of health insurance is part of employee's earnings in calculating time-loss benefits of injured employee); CP 104 (the term "earnings" is expressly defined in the disability plan to include "deferred compensation"). And deferred compensation is a regular part of teachers' earnings. Adams, 225 F.3d at 1185.

The District does not dispute the terms of the disability policy. Instead, it contended that Mr. Lundquist's claim was barred by failing to exhaust collective bargaining agreement (CBA) remedies, even though the CBA is completely irrelevant to disability pay. King County Superior Court Judge Annette Messitt rejected this affirmative defense on summary judgment, ruling the disability claim does not arise out of a CBA because it is an employee benefit that arises from the long-term disability policy, not the CBA. She said this "is supported, in part, by the fact that all district employees receive long-term disability coverage...regardless of whether or not they are subject to a CBA." CP 1166. And she thus ruled that Mr. Lundquist "was not required to grieve this issue under the CBA because he is not claiming the Seattle School District violated any term of the CBA." *Id.* Judge Messitt further ruled that Mr. "Lundquist was not an 'employee' of Seattle School District for purposes of union representation...because he was within the category of persons who had 'cease[d] worked without expectation of further employment" and thus was not subject to the CBA grievance procedure. Id. Accordingly, Judge Messitt rejected the District's exhaustion defense for those two independent reasons. CP 1167.

The Court of Appeals granted discretionary review. Meanwhile, the court permitted the plaintiffs to add Standard Insurance as an additional defendant. October 16, 2020 order. And Standard Insurance filed a claim

against the District. *Standard v. S.S.D.*, W.D. WA No. 2:20-cv-01097-MJP, Dkt. 11. Standard says the District must "provide Standard with 'all information reasonably necessary to the administration of the Group Policy." *Id.* at 5. Moreover, Standard alleges that "[i]n reliance on information submitted by the District, [it] calculated LTD Benefits without including TRI Pay...." *Id.* at 7-8. Standard's claim is basically the same as plaintiffs' complaint, CP 1-12, *i.e.*, that the District breached its duties by its failure to calculate and report disability pay as required by the plan. *Standard Insurance v. Seattle School Dist.*, 2020 WL 8513589 (W.D. Wash. 2020).

The Court of Appeals ruled, without any motion on the matter below, that the District has no duty to provide disability pay in accord with the terms of its own employee benefit plan. Op. at 10, 22.

V. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

A. Standard for Accepting Review.

Under RAP 13.4(b), this Court will review decisions that involve "an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court," involve a "significant question" of Washington law, or are "in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court." The Court of Appeals decision should be reviewed because it involves issues of substantial public interest regarding employee benefits and the ability of employees to seek compensation for the denial of benefits, and it conflicts with multiple controlling decisions of this Court. Here, the District agrees that the Court of

Appeals "decision…is of general public interest and importance." Mot. to Publish at 2, 5.²

The Legislature has emphasized the importance of disability benefits by enacting statutes governing school districts' insured employee benefits including disability plans. See RCW 28A.400.350; RCW 28A.400.275; RCW 41.05.740 (enacted while this case has been pending). These statutes were not addressed by the Court of Appeals.

B. The Court of Appeals Erred on an Issue of Public Importance by Ruling Long-Term Disability Benefits Are Not Compensation, Contrary to This Court's Decisions.

The Court of Appeals rejected two controlling decision of this Court in holding that long-term disability benefits are not employee compensation.

The District proudly promoted this point (Mot. to Publish at 3-4):

The decision is one of the first appellate decisions to interpret the scope of two prior Washington cases, *Jacoby v. Grays Harbor Chair & Manufacturing Co.*, 77 Wn.2d 911, 468 P.2d 666 (1970), and *Navlet v. Port of Seattle*, 164 Wn.2d 818, 194 P.3d 221 (2008) ... In so holding, the decision clarified...[that] not every employee benefit constitutes deferred compensation.

The decision is not a "clarification," it is the first and only case in Washington to hold that long-term disability pay (or any employee benefit) is not employee compensation. And as the District says, the decision is "significant

² Although the Court denied the District's motion to publish, it will be considered persuasive in Superior Court because there are few cases applying this Court's precedent. Mot. to Publish at 3-4. Unfortunately, it actually rejects Supreme Court precedent in connection with both insured employee benefits and labor law.

because it is one of the few...address[ing] group disability insurance," and thus will influence future disability benefit cases. Mot. at 4, n. 3.

This decision conflicts with this Court's controlling precedents holding that *all* employee benefits are compensation (wages) and that an employee may sue an employer for breach of contract for an employee benefit. *Jacoby*, 77 Wn.2d at 916; *Vizcaino v. Microsoft Corp.*, 120 F.3d 1006, 1014-1015 (9th Cir 1997) (en banc), *cert. denied*, 522 US 1098 (1998) (applying Washington law); *Navlet*, 164 Wn.2d at 838-39 (adopting holding of *Vizcaino*).

In *Jacoby*, retirees seeking a pension from their employer under its contract with an insurance company brought suit "*against their former employer*...on a pension plan contract between their employer and [the insurance company]." 77 Wn.2d at 912 (emphasis added). Insured benefits are "a basic part of an employee's remuneration even as his wages are a part thereof." *Id.* Thus, the pension contract was "not only between the employer and the [insurance] company, but [also] an implied contract between employer and employee." *Id.*

In *Vizcaino*, 120 F.3d 1006, the Court ruled that an employer's public promulgation of an employee benefit is an offer that employees accept by continued work. *Id.* at 1014. Consequently, it ruled that treating employee benefits as compensation should "appl[y] to all employee benefits." *Id.*

This Court expressly adopted the holding that "all employee benefits," including insured benefits, are "compensation" that employers are contractually obligated to provide in *Navlet* (164 Wn.2d at 839):

[W]elfare benefits make up part of the core compensatory benefits package offered in exchange for continued service. *See, e.g., Cockle v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 142 Wash.2d 801, 823, 16 P.3d 583 (2001) (recognizing employer-provided health care benefits as "core, nonfringe benefits" provided in consideration for services rendered....

Thus, this Court held that "the same form of reasoning [that pension benefits are deferred compensation] *applies to all employee benefits*." *Navlet*, 164 Wn.2d at 838, quoting *Vizcaino*, 120 F.3d at 1014 (this Court's bracketed insert and italics). Accordingly, an employee may sue the employer to obtain the benefit. *Navlet*, 164 Wn.2d at 847 n. 17; *Jacoby*, 77 Wn.2d at 916. And, consistent with *Navlet*, Division II held that disability benefits are employee "compensation." *Merino v. State*, 179 Wn. App. 889, 906, 220 P.3d 153 (2014).

The trial court thus correctly ruled that the long-term disability policy is a unilateral contract between the District and its employees under *Navlet* and *Jacoby*. CP 1116. The Court of Appeals, however, rejected the holdings of *Navlet* and *Jacoby* and found that the long-term disability benefit offered by the District to its employees is not compensation, unlike all other employee benefits. It tried to distinguish *Jacoby* on the facts by saying the employer there "promised to finance 100 percent of the pension plan." Op. at

25. And it said that the employer in *Navlet* had a "clear, written contractual obligation to pay welfare benefits." *Id.* at 25, n. 8.

The alleged distinction between this case and *Jacoby* and *Navlet* is baseless. The policy explicitly says that the "POLICYHOLDER [the District] will pay the *entire cost* of your INSURANCE." CP 97 (emphasis added). And the record shows that the plan functions as a pass-through, where the District pays the entire cost of the benefits through premiums, plus a small charge for administration and profit. CP 1082-86, 1125, 1130-39. If the claims exceed premiums in a given year, the deficiency is taken from the District's deposit account or future premiums are adjusted to account for the shortfall. CP 1125 ("Standard has the right to use the [deposit] to cover losses in any given year when their costs exceed the premium"), CP 1137-38 (calling the District's deposit account a "claim fluctuation reserve" and adjusting premiums based on an increase in paid claims).

Moreover, the specific terms of the policy state a plain contractual obligation to cover 60% of an employee's "annual rate of earnings." But the District informed employees that it would only report and pay premiums to cover "basic annual earnings," CP 676, where "basic" is contrary to the policy's definition of "annual rate of earnings. CP 104. And Standard Insurance receives and relies on the District's person-by-person report of payroll to calculate employees' pre-disability earnings. CP 1137-38. Thus,

the District's intentional underreporting of the insured earnings included in the calculation resulted in Mr. Lundquist receiving much less than 60% of his pre-disability "annual rate of earnings." Accordingly, the Court of Appeal' statement that the District is not involved in the calculation of disability pay (Op. at 23-24) is contrary to the undisputed record.

Because there was never any motion for summary judgment or decision in the trial court on the District's contract duty or breach—only on its CBA defense—the Court of Appeals misunderstood and misstated the facts.³ First, the long-term disability benefit is totally employer-funded (see p. 9 *supra*). Second, it is mandatory for *all* school employees. CP 637. It is offered to every employee, regardless of union representation. CP 736-37. The benefit is described in documents provided to the employees, including the employee benefit handbook, each year. CP 637, 676; see also the District disability plan summary (attached).⁴ And the Court of Appeals misstated the

³ The Court of Appeals also failed to apply the summary judgment standard. It said that "by filing cross motions for summary judgment, the parties concede there are no material issues of fact." Op. at 10. That is not the standard. *Anderson v. Akzo Nobel Coatings, Inc.*, 172 Wn.2d 593, 597 260 P.3d 857 (2011) ("As this case is here on crossmotions for summary judgment, we take the facts in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party with respect to the particular claim."). Here, by arguing that the long-term disability policy was an independent contract claim (not part of the CBA) under *Jacoby* and *Navlet* in a motion for partial summary judgment on the CBA exhaustion defense, the plaintiffs did not concede that the District made no promises in its employee handbook and other benefit documents. If the Court of Appeals thought the record was not sufficient to establish there was a unilateral contract (Op. at 10, 22), it should have remanded for further proceeding, not assume facts not in the record and rule on factual issues never considered below.

⁴ This Court should take judicial notice of the LTD plan summary contained in *(continued)*

source of the calculation error in disability pay (Op. at 23-24). Additionally, the District's annual benefit worksheets show that the District was incorrectly reporting to Standard only "basic" earnings instead of the "annual rate of earnings" defined as "insured earnings" in the plan. CP 676.

Plaintiffs never received the opportunity to move for summary judgment as to whether the District had a contractual duty to provide disability benefits or had breached its duty because the Court of Appeals granted discretionary review of the trial court's early rejection of the exhaustion defense. Despite the absence of any discovery, motion, or decision on duty or breach below, the Court of Appeals ruled that the District had no duty to provide disability benefits it offers and did not breach any duty by its failures. The Court of Appeals concluded that it was error to "find[] the existence of a unilateral contract requiring the District to pay *any disability compensation* to Lundquist." Op. at 27 (emphasis added).

Under this decision, the long-term disability benefit promised to all employees and paid for entirely by the District is *not* deferred compensation and employees may not sue their employer for failing to provide this

the new employee benefit guidebook, Appendix 3, because it was cited by web address in documents submitted by the District, CP 677, but is no longer at that address, particularly because plaintiffs were never provided an opportunity to litigate the District's breach at any level. *McAfee v. Select Portfolio Servicing, Inc.*, 193 Wn. App. 220, 226, 370 P.3d 25 (2016). The plan description correctly notes that "plan contract prevails." Appendix 3.

⁵ The Court of Appeals *sua sponte* issued a stay pending the interlocutory review, July 8, 2020, preventing plaintiffs from obtaining discovery on the District's failure to provide disability compensation.

compensation. *Id.* The decision is directly contrary to *Navlet*, where this Court *rejected* the employer's argument that the benefit provider "is the proper defendant in a suit for retirement welfare benefits, not the employer" because the "conferral of retirement benefits creates an implied contract directly between the employee and *employer*." 164 Wn.2d at 847 n.17 (this Court's emphasis); *accord*, *Jacoby*, discussed on p. 7 *supra*.

Employee compensation is an important issue in Washington.

Schilling v. Radio Holdings, Inc., 136 Wn.2d 152, 157, 961 P.2d 371 (1998)

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