FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/25/2021 3:30 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 998299 Court of Appeals Cause No. 80211-9-I

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

TIMOTHY LUNDQUIST, and a certified class of similarly situated individuals,

Plaintiffs/Petitioner,

v.

SEATTLE SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 1,

Defendant/Respondent.

SEATTLE SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 1'S ANSWER TO PLAINTIFF'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

HARRIGAN LEYH FARMER & THOMSEN LLP Timothy G. Leyh, WSBA #14853 Randall T. Thomsen, WSBA #25310 Kristin E. Ballinger, WSBA #28253 Ariel A. Martinez, WSBA #54869 999 Third Avenue, Suite 4400 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 623-1700

Attorneys for Seattle School District No. 1

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

III. ARGUMENT

RAP 13.4 governs discretionary review of a decision terminating review. Mr. Lundquist purports to rely on three of the grounds justifying review³ but argues only two: that "the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court" or if "the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." Pet. at 5.

Mr. Lundquist does not satisfy either test because the Court of Appeals' decision is consistent with existing Washington precedent and the undisputed record establishing that Mr. Lundquist was a dues-paying union member, on paid medical leave, under contract with the District, and represented by his union at the time his claim accrued.

A. The Court of Appeals' Decision Is Consistent with Prior Washington Authority.

Mr. Lundquist asserts that the Court should review the Court of Appeals' decision because it conflicts with *Jacoby v. Grays Harbor Chair* & *Manufacturing Co.*, 77 Wn.2d 911, 468 P.2d 666 (1970), *Vizcaino v. Microsoft Corp.*, 120 F.3d 1006 (9th Cir. 1997), and *Navlet v. Port of Seattle*, 164 Wn.2d 818, 194 P.3d 221 (2008). But there is no conflict. Contrary to Mr. Lundquist's contention, the Court of Appeals properly distinguished Mr. Lundquist's claim from those in *Jacoby*,

Vizcaino, and Navlet, avoiding any conflict. Op. at 24-27. While Mr.

³ Mr. Lundquist misstates RAP 13.4(b) in claiming that review is permitted whenever a "significant question' of Washington law" is at issue. Pet. at 5. RAP 13.4(b) requires "a significant question of law *under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States*," RAP 13.4(b) (emphasis added), neither of which is implicated here.

Lundquist relies on these holdings to support his claim that the District has a unilateral contract with its employees, Pet. at 6, 13, the Court of Appeals correctly held that the District did not create a unilateral contract with its employees by virtue of Standard's insurance policy because the record contains "no evidence the District ever promised to pay disability compensation directly to an employee if Standard denied coverage."⁴ Op. at 23. The appellate court reasoned that Mr. Lundquist provided no proof of any policy or employee handbook in which such promises were made to its employees, Op. at 23. Rather, the District's sole promise to its employees was to pay premiums in accordance with the CBA's provisions. Op. at 22-23.⁵

The Court of Appeals thus rightly distinguished each decision on which Mr. Lundquist relied. It explained that in *Jacoby*, "the employer not only promised to finance 100 percent of the pension plan for its employees but it also actually did so." Op. at 25; *see also Jacoby*, 77 Wn.2d at 912 ("[T]he employer contracted with the company for payment

⁴ No implied contract could exist as a matter of law when, as here, the CBA identifies that it is "complete in and of itself and set[s] forth *all* terms and conditions" of the agreements between the District and Mr. Lundquist's union. CP 832 (emphasis added). If the District had a duty to provide benefits under Standard's policy, it is a duty that would be in the CBA as an express agreement. But there is no such duty.

⁵ The District told its employees that the premiums it paid to Standard were based on employees' Basic Contract and not their TRI Contract. CP 638-39, 674 (Enrollment Memo: "Life and LTD [Long-Term Disability] Insurance: . . . Your basic annual earnings *do not include* other income, such as TRI.") (emphasis added).

of pensions to qualified salaried employees. . . . The employer agreed to deposit periodically with the company *the sums of money which the company determined were required to fund the payments*.") (emphasis added). In other words, the employer in *Jacoby* paid the entire benefit. *Id.* In contrast, the District funds the cost of long-term disability insurance (*i.e.*, premiums) as set forth in the CBA. Op. at 25-26 (District agreed "to contribute a certain dollar amount per employee, to match what the State paid, into a pool that would cover employee group benefits, which included long-term disability insurance purchased from Standard").

Mr. Lundquist asserts that "the District pays the entire cost of the benefits through premiums," Pet. at 9, but there is no support for this statement. The citations that he provides only bolster the Court of Appeals' explanation that the District funds *premiums* and not *benefits*. *E.g.*, CP 97 (Standard's policy states "[the District] will pay the entire *cost* of your Insurance") (emphasis added); Op. at 24 ("Standard is the only party obligated to pay benefits under the policy."). The record reflects that Standard maintains a "premium deposit account" on the District's behalf that "accumulates any unused premiums for each policy year" and allows the District to "buy down premium rates for the following year." CP 636. That the District and Standard have a mechanism by which the District can

avoid premium rate fluctuations does not mean that the District pays longterm disability benefits; only Standard does.

The Court of Appeals likewise distinguished *Vizcaino*, in which the Ninth Circuit held that Microsoft's stock purchase plan was a unilateral contract between Microsoft and its employees and deferred compensation for services rendered. Op. at 26-27. The Court of Appeals correctly explained that in *Vizcaino* Microsoft made "a promise of compensation offered and funded entirely by the employer," whereas the District made "a promise to provide access to insurance." Op. at 27.

The same was true in *Navlet*. There, the employer took on "a clear, written contractual obligation to pay welfare benefits, which were tied to the language of the CBA at issue in that case." Op. at 25 n.8; *Navlet*, 164 Wn.2d at 824. Again, the District made no similar promise.

The Court of Appeals' reasoning that the District does not have a unilateral contract with its employees to pay disability benefits is not in tension with the holdings in *Jacoby*, *Vizcaino*, or *Navlet*, where the employers made direct promises to their employees to provide a benefit and not merely to fund insurance premiums. Extending Washington authority in the manner Mr. Lundquist proposes would mean "any employer who purchased employee health insurance from a third-party insurer would somehow become directly liable to its employees for the

- 13 -

payment of health care expenses if the insurer refused to cover those expenses." Op. at 27.

Because there was no direct promise to pay benefits, Mr. Lundquist raises the entirely new argument that also is refuted by the record: he claims that the District should be liable to employees for allegedly "underreporting . . . insured earnings" to Standard. Pet. at 9-10. Not only is his allegation unsupported (*see id.*), the record refutes it: the District submitted payroll information (paystubs) to Standard at Standard's request.⁶ Had Standard believed its policy covered TRI pay, it had the payroll information to include TRI in its benefit calculation. *See, e.g.*, CP 11 (letter from Standard to Mr. Lundquist indicating it received "payroll reports" from the District which "reflect" salary and various "TRI" pay).

In other words, the District provided even the information Mr. Lundquist claims it did not provide, and Standard alone decided not to include TRI pay in determining the amount of benefits. *See* CP 12.

Mr. Lundquist likewise urges that he is entitled to review because "[e]mployee compensation is an important issue," Pet. at 12, and the Court of Appeals determined "that the long-term disability benefit offered by the District to its employees is not compensation," Pet. at 8. There is no such

⁶ Even Mr. Lundquist himself acknowledged that Standard included TRI pay in calculating his benefits but later unilaterally elected to omit it. *See* CP 4 ¶¶ 22-23, 12.

holding. The appellate court's decision does not address whether disability benefits constitute deferred compensation because it did not need to. Rather, the Court of Appeals' decision narrowly addresses (and decides in the affirmative) the specific issue of whether Mr. Lundquist's claim constitutes a grievance such that he must follow the mandatory grievance process in the CBA. Op. at 28. Far from preventing an employee from raising a dispute about insurance (or any benefit or compensation for that matter), the Court of Appeals made the unremarkable determination that, when an employee is subject to a broad grievance provision in a CBA, the employee is required to raise his dispute within the grievance framework. The appellate court's decision is consistent with a long line of decisions that have reached similar holdings.⁷ Mr. Lundquist tries to avoid this result by arguing that if "longterm disability benefits are the deferred compensation they are intended to be," then an employee may sue its employer when a promised benefit is not provided. Pet. at 12. This argument fails to recognize that his CBA grievance provision encompasses disputes regarding compensation. See CP 934 (referencing "grievances related to salary").

Mr. Lundquist's petition attempts to create a conflict where none

⁷ See supra n. 1 (citing cases).

exists. This Court should decline review.

B. The Court of Appeals Correctly Determined that Mr. Lundquist's Claim Arose When He Was an Employee Subject to the CBA

Mr. Lundquist argues that the Court of Appeals departed from "federal labor law" in determining that Mr. Lundquist was subject to the CBA. Pet. at 17-20. But the Court of Appeals followed well-established rules of contract interpretation and prior decisions in concluding that the record established Mr. Lundquist was an employee when his claim accrued. This conclusion is neither remarkable nor in conflict with federal case law.

The CBA defines "grievant" as "an employee . . . of the [District] covered by this Agreement having a grievance." CP 934; Op. at 11. An employee is defined as "a certificated non-supervisory educational employee represented by the SEA." CP 831; Op. at 11. Relying on *Allied Chemical & Alkali Workers of America v. Pittsburg Plate Glass Co.*, 404 U.S. 157, 168, 92 S. Ct. 383, 30 L. Ed. 2d 341 (1971), Mr. Lundquist asserts that he was not represented by the SEA because he was on disability leave, had no expectation of returning to work, and does not share a "community of interest" with current employees. Pet. at 14.

Setting aside his own admission that he was a member of SEA's bargaining unit when became disabled, Resp't Br. at 4 ("At the time [he]

became totally disabled he was in the SEA's bargaining unit."), the Court of Appeals correctly rejected the assertion that the union did not represent Mr. Lundquist when his claim accrued as contrary to the undisputed record (Op. at 12). That record established the following:

- Mr. Lundquist's claim accrued in July 2017, when Standard notified him that it would not include TRI in calculating his disability benefits. CP 133 ¶ 7; Op. at 7, 12 n.5.
- Mr. Lundquist renewed his employment contract. CP 1040.
- Before, during, and after the July 2017 accrual, Mr. Lundquist
 was an on paid medical leave (March to November 2017) and
 then unpaid medical leave (to March 2018). CP 1034.
- He remained a dues-paying member. CP 1150-54.
- He resigned from the District on March 30, 2018. CP 1037.
- Until he resigned, he was an employee, retained the right to return to work, was notified of those facts, and indicated to the District that he might return to work. CP 1039, 1163-64.

That Mr. Lundquist was on medical leave does not mean he did not have a "community of interest" with others in his union. Mr. Lundquist refers (again) to the District's argument on class certification that he did not share a community of interest with his bargaining unit. Pet. at 17. But the District's argument was not that Mr. Lundquist was not a union member when his claim arose, it was that he could not adequately represent other class members. *See* CP 613, 627. Whether Mr. Lundquist satisfies the CR 23 requirements is a different legal issue from whether at the time his claim accrued—he was an employee and, therefore, a "grievant" under the CBA. In fact, "[h]ad the District denied Lundquist's request to extend his leave or denied him the opportunity to return to work, the CBA provided Lundquist with the right to union representation to grieve the denial of those rights under the CBA." Op. at 13.

Based on the undisputed record, the Court of Appeals properly distinguished *Allied Chemical* because that case addressed whether an employer must bargain with a union over *changes* to benefits held by *retirees*. Op. at 12. Mr. Lundquist's position would require an untenable extension of *Allied Chemical* by finding that unions do not represent disabled employees on medical leave even when their claims relate to existing benefits they received as employees.⁸ Mr. Lundquist erroneously claims that Washington has adopted this extension, citing an unpublished PERC decision, *Aldridge v. Washington State Troopers Assoc.*, 2019 WL 1549471 (PERC Jan. 5, 2019). Pet. at 16. Putting aside that the administrative law decision has no precedential value, PERC found that

⁸ Such an extension would drastically curtail employee rights. *E.g.*, RCW 49.12.270, .287, .295.

"[i]ndividuals receiving disability payments pursuant to RCW 43.43.040 are equivalent to retirees." *Id.* at *7. The cited statute, RCW 43.43.040 – referred to as "a system unique to the state patrol" – applies only to active duty Washington state patrol officers. Disabled patrol officers are not part of the bargaining unit because they are not "commissioned" (*i.e.*, authorized to enforce the law), which is a requirement of the bargaining unit. 2019 WL 1549471 at *6-7. The PERC's decision in *Aldridge* has no relevance in determining whether a teacher like Mr. Lundquist was an employee and grievant under the CBA.

The Court of Appeals likewise determined that *Meza v. General Battery Corp.*, 908 F.2d 1262 (5th Cir. 1990) did not support Mr. Lundquist's position because "[i]t was undisputed that the union did not represent Meza . . . because Meza had already been terminated from his employment," when the union initiated a lawsuit. Op. at 15. As in *Allied Chemical*, "[t]here is nothing in *Meza* to support the conclusion that Meza lost his entitlement to union representation before his termination occurred." Op. at 15.

Mr. Lundquist's repeated insistence that a difference exists between being "on the payroll as an employee," as opposed to an employee entitled to union representation, Pet. at 18, is contrary to the CBA's plain language. CP 831. A teacher like Mr. Lundquist who is on

- 19 -

leave and on the payroll necessarily is covered by the CBA, entitled to union representation, and required to follow the grievance procedure in the CBA. The Court of Appeals' decision requiring Mr. Lundquist to follow the grievance procedure hardly leaves him with "no remedy under the CBA," let alone rises to the level of being "perverse."⁹ Rather, the Court of Appeals correctly interpreted the CBA and applied well-settled precedent in holding that Mr. Lundquist was required to grieve his claim.

IV. CONCLUSION

The Court should deny the Petition for Review.

SUBMITTED this 25th day of June, 2021.

HARRIGAN LEYH FARMER & THOMSEN LLP

By s/Randall T. Thomsen

Timothy G. Leyh, WSBA #14853 Randall T. Thomsen, WSBA #25310 Kristin E. Ballinger, WSBA #28253 Ariel A. Martinez, WSBA #54869 999 Third Avenue, Suite 4400 Seattle, WA 98104 Tel: (206) 623-1700 Fax: (206) 623-8717 Email: timl@harriganleyh.com Email: randallt@harriganleyh.com Email: kristinb@harriganleyh.com

Attorneys for Seattle School District No. 1

⁹ The Court of Appeals instructed the trial court to dismiss Mr. Lundquist's claims "without prejudice," thus allowing Mr. Lundquist to pursue his claims in court if he exhausts the grievance process and meets the prerequisites to do so.